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TERESI, J.: 

Petitioner commenced the instant special proceeding alleging that respondents have 

repeatedly engaged in fraudulent, deceptive and illegal business practices in violation of Executive 

Law 8 63 (12) and General Business Law article 22-A and seeking injunctive relief, restitution, 

penalties, disgorgement of excess profits, an accounting to identify consumers entitled to restitution 

and an award of costs and disbursements. The proceeding involves the practices engaged in by 

respondents in the sale, financing and warranty servicing of computers and related electronic 

equipment. Respondents have each separately cross-moved for an order dismissing the proceeding. 

The proceeding was initially removed to Federal Court and thereafter was remanded back to 

Supreme Court. 

A special proceeding brought pursuant to either Executive Law 5 63 (12) or General Business 

Law article 22-A is the functional equivalent of a motion for summary judgment in an action with 

the same procedural standards applicable (see Matter of People v Applied Card Sys.. Inc., 27 AD3d 

104, 106, [3d Dept 20051; see also Matter of Port of N. Y. Auth. [62 Cortlandt St. Realty Co.], 18 

NY2d 250,255 [1966]; National Enters. Inc. v Clermont Farm Corp., 46 AD3d 1 180,1183 [3d Dept 

20071). "[Tlhe proponent of a summary judgment motion must make a prima facie showing of 

entitlement to judgment as a matter of law, tendering sufficient evidence to demonstrate the absence 

of any material issues of fact" (Alvarez v Prospect Hosp., 68 NY2d 320,324 [1986]; see also Bush 

v St. Clare's Hosp., 82 NY2d 738,739 [1993]). The petition and cross-motions to dismiss must be 
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a supported by "evidentiary proof in admissible form" (Friends of Animals v Associated Fur Mfrs., 

46 NY2d 1065, 1067 [1979]). Conclusory assertions without factual proof are insufficient (E 

Matter of Sour Mtn. Realtvv New York State Dept. of Envtl. Conservation, 260 AD2d 920,923-924 

[3d Dept 19991). Once the movant has established a right to judgment as a matter of law, the burden 

shifts to the opponent of the motion to establish, by admissible proof, the existence of genuine issues 

of material fact (see Zuckerman v City of New York, 49 NY2d 557 [1980]). The Court will then 

view the evidence in a light most favorable to the party opposing the motion, giving them the benefit 

of every reasonable inference, and determine whether there is any triable issue of fact which would 

warrant denial of a motion for summary judgment and necessitate a trial (see Boyce v Vazquez, 249 

AD2d 724,726 [3d Dept 19981; Martin v Brig@, 235 AD2d 192,196 [l  st Dept 19971; Simpson v 

Simpson, 222 AD2d 984,986 [3d Dept 19951). 

Petitioner has submitted numerous affidavits from consumers alleging various deceptive, 

misleading and unlawful conduct by the respondents. Petitioner has also submitted a number of 

unsworn complaints prepared on forms which state immediately before the signature that any false 

statements would be punishable as a class A misdemeanor under section 175.30 andlor section 

210.45 of the Penal Law. Respondents object to the Court considering such complaints as they are 

not sworn. Petitioner contends that such complaints are the substantial equivalent of an affidavit and 

thus may be relied upon as admissible proof in support of the application, citing Peo~le  v Sullivan, 

(56 NY2d 378,383 [1982]). However, such decision involved construction of a statute referring to 

undefined oaths or affirmations relating to an application for a search warrant. The Appellate 

Division, Third Department, has stated: 

"Notwithstanding the existence of some caselaw tending to equate an affirmation with an 
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affidavit (see, People v Sullivan, 56 NY2d 378, 383-384; Matter of Kurt EE., 199 AD2d 
945), the inescapable fact is that CPLR 3212(b) very specifically requires a summary 
judgment motion to 'be supported by affidavit'. In addition, the provision of CPLR 21 06 that 
attorneys, physicians, osteopaths and dentists may submit an affirmation 'with the same force 
and effect as an affidavit' clearly manifests the Legislature's intention that no other class of 
witness be granted that privilege. Although there is much to be said for permitting written 
affirmations by all persons, the Legislature has repeatedly failed to take action on proposals 
to that effect (see, Alexander, Practice Commentaries, McKinney's Cons Laws ofN.Y., Book 
7B, CPLR 2 106, at 8 16)." (Sam v Town of Rotterdam, 248 AD2d 850,85 1 [3d Dept 19981). 

The Third Department's statements are only dicta, as they held that the party opposing the motion 

for summary judgment failed to raise the objection, thereby waiving the issue. The reasoning is, 

however, compelling and is clearly supported by People v D.B.M. Intl. Photo Corp., (1 35 AD2d 353, 

354 [lst Dept 19871). It is therefore determined that only the affidavits will be considered on the 

liability phase of this proceeding. Nevertheless, a restitution and penalty phase, if required, need not 

comply with all of the procedural requirements of a trial or a motion for summary judgment. As 

such, the unsworn complaints may be considered during such phase (see ex.  People v Introductions, 

[Index No. 3571 -96, Sup Ct, Albany County, March 30,1999, Teresi, J.]). The Court also notes that 

respondent Dell has submitted an unsworn "declaration" to which there has been no objection. 

Petitioner has submitted copies of typical advertisements published on behalf of Dell. The 

ads offer such promotions as free flat panel monitors, additional memory, significant rebates and 

instant discounts in very large point print in contrasting color. They also include offers of very 

attractive financing, such as no interest and no payments for a specified period of time in prominent 

positions and similar large fonts and colors. While there is fine print below the financing offers 

limiting them to "well qualified" customers, and after certain litigation, "best qualified" customers, 

nothing in the ads indicate what standards are used to determine whether a customer is well 

qualified. There is also no indication of how many customers are likely actually to qualify. 
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Petitioner's submissions indicate that as few as 7% of New York applicants qualified for some 

promotions. Petitioner has submitted several affidavits from consumers alleging that they saw these 

ads and were persuaded to call or access Dell's internet site to shop for a computer because of the 

financing promotions. However, most applicants, if approved for credit, were offered very high 

interest rate revolving credit accounts ranging fiom approximately 16% up to almost 30% interest 

without the prominently advertised promotional interest deferral. 

Petitioner contends that respondents improperly applied an ultra restrictive credit policy to 

limit the number of applicants who actually benefitted fiom the promotions. However, in the 

absence of any deception or misrepresentation, there is nothing improper about applying restrictive 

qualifications for credit. 

In any event, respondents contend that the restrictive credit policies are governed by CIT 

Bank, the actual lender for Dell promotions and that Dell does not have any say in how credit is 

approved. Such claims are belied by the record. Dell Financial Services, L.P. is a joint venture of 

Dell and CIT Bank. Dell has a 70% interest in the joint venture, including its profits, and also 

provides hundreds of millions of dollars of financing for its sales. Moreover, the varying percentages 

of customers who qualify for different promotions indicates that credit approval is often based upon 

the product in question, and not the customer's creditworthiness. As noted above, promotions 

applicable to Dell products across the board have approval rates of as little as 7%. However, 

promotions with no interest for as long as 24 months applicable only to Dell TV's and XPS computer 

systems have consistently had approval ratings between 52% and 62%. Respondents have not 

offered any explanation of why CIT Bank would find purchasers of such items less risky than 

purchasers of other items. While petitioner has not offered any evidence as to who bears the costs 
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of interest free financing, it is almost certain that such costs and expenses are born by Dell, and not 

CIT Bank. It is thus apparent that Dell is the true lender (see Matter of People v County Bank of 

Rehoboth Beach. Del., 45 AD3d 1 136 [3d Dept 20071) and has considerable control over how many 

customers are approved for financing promotions. 

Moreover, Dell certainly has knowledge of the relative numbers of customers who qualify 

for various promotions. It is therefore determined that Dell has engaged in prominently advertising 

the financing promotions in order to attract prospective customers with no intention of actually 

providing the advertised financing to the great majority of such customers. Such conduct is 

deceptive and constitutes improper "bait advertising" (see e.g. Electrolux Coy. v Val-Worth, Inc., 

6 NY2d 556,566 [1959]; Goldber~ v Manhattan Ford Lincoln-Mercury, 129 Misc 2d 123,127 [Sup 

Ct, New York County 19851). 

The Court does not hold that it is improper to advertise attractive financing terms for 

which not all customers qualifl. However, the advertising is deceptive when the sellerladvertiser 

has significant control over or knowledge ofthe restricted number of customers who qualify and fails 

to include any meaningful information with respect to the likelihood of obtaining the advertised 

financing (see Matter of People v Applied Card SYS.. Inc., 27 AD3d at 106-108). 

Petitioner has also made a prima facie showing of other repeated deceptive acts concerning 

financing Dell equipment. While respondents contend that a customer can not apply for promotional 

financing, but rather merely applies for a standard revolving credit account which may or may not 

include favorable terms, respondents' application process does not make this legal distinction clear 

to the applicant. The print out of the online application submitted by petitioner involves an offer of 

no interest financing followed immediately by an active link labeled "Apply Online Now!" creating 
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an inference that the customer is applying for no interest financing. This link takes the customer to 

an application for a "Dell Preferred Account" which boasts "instant approval for qualified 

applicants," essentially the same language used with respect to the promotional financing 

"disclaimer." It is designated a "preferred" account, implying that it is better than a regular account. 

While the fine print states that the account may or may not include promotional financing, the 

application does not expressly state that it is not an application for the advertised financing. 

Petitioner has submitted numerous affidavits from customers who believed that they were applying 

for the 0% interest financing. The Court finds that under all of the circumstances, such beliefs were 

not unreasonable. 

Petitioner has also submitted numerous affidavits fiom customers who believed that they 

applied for the promotional financing over the telephone. Some of them told the Dell representative 

that they were only interested in the offer if they received the promotional financing. Most alleged 

in effect that they were not clearly informed that they were applying for a regular revolving line of 

credit with no beneficial features. While it does not appear that such misperception as to the nature 

of the credit application standing alone would cause a consumer any injury, it would change their 

rights with respect to receiving written notice of the reasons why promotional financing was denied 

under the Equal Credit Opportunity Act (15 USC 1691 [dl) (see infra). 

More importantly, petitioner has submitted affidavits allegng that consumers were deceived 

with respect to whether they were actually approved for the promotional financing. The online 

application process included a screen which stated "Congratulations, (consumer's name!) You've 

been approved for a Dell Preferred Account!" in a large print and contrasting color. This was 

subsequently modified to remove the congratulatory language. If promotional financing was not 
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approved, the screen then stated "Please note that your account does not qualify for or include any 

promotional financing features." Thereafter, the screen set forth the credit limit and the APR and 

stated "Promotional Financing Features: NOT INCLUDED." Certainly a careful consumer would 

read all of the information and realize that they had not been approved for the no interest promotion. 

However, 

"[tlhe test is whether the act complained of 'has the capacity or tendency to deceive, or 
creates an atmosphere conducive to fraud. Executive Law $63 (12) was meant to protect not 
only the average consumer, but also "the ignorant, the unthinking and the credulous"' 
(People v General Elec. Co., 302 AD2d 314, 314 [2003] [citations omitted], quoting 
Gu~~enheimer v Ginzburg, 43 NY2d 268,273 [1977])." (Matter of People v Applied Card 
Sys., Inc., 27 AD3d at 106). 

Viewing the process as a whole, including the initial link to apply for an advertised promotion and 

the statement that the consumer was approved for a "preferred" account, it is certainly possible, if 

not likely, that a significant number of consumers would accept the credit account believing that they 

had qualified for the no interest financing. This is born out by the fact that Dell has prepared scripts 

for its sales representatives specifically addressed to consumers who believed that they had qualified 

for promotional financing following online applications. It seems unlikely that they would have 

done so had such misperceptions been truly isolated and unusual. 

Petitioner has also submitted many affidavits from consumers who purchased Dell equipment 

over the telephone alleging that they believed they were applying for promotional financing and that 

the sales representative told them they were approved, but failed to set forth the terms of the 

approval, including the fact that they were not approved for the promotional financing. A smaller 

number of consumers have alleged that they were actually told that they were approved for 

promotional financing when they had not been. Such allegations are supported by logs maintained 
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by Dell which show numerous complaints about being charged interest when the customers believed 

they had been approved for promotional financing and prepared scripts apologizing for any 

misrepresentations concerning financing. Moreover, some of the affidavits submitted by petitioner 

indicate that such misrepresentations caused consumers actual injury as they had credit available for 

considerably lower interest rates. It is therefore determined that petitioner has made a prima facie 

showing that respondents have engaged in deceptive practices with respect to the advertising and 

issuance of credit. 

Petitioner asserts that respondents have repeatedly opened Dell Preferred Accounts for 

customers without authorization and thereafter charged equipment to them. Petitioner has submitted 

only two affidavits supporting such claim. In one instance, the customer provided the information 

to apply for the financing promotion and decided to purchase the equipment with his credit card. 

Through error, the customer was shipped two systems, with one charged to the credit card and one 

charged to the Dell account without permission. The second affidavit involved a similar application 

for a Dell account with the customer deciding to use a credit card. By mistake, the equipment was 

charged to a Dell account instead. There is no indication that these were anything other than isolated 

good faith errors which would not support the imposition of any penalty or injunctive relief. 

Moreover, it appears that all financial issues have been fully resolved such that there is no basis for 

any restitution. Petitioner has therefore failed to meet its burden on such claim. 

Petitioner has also raised numerous objections to respondent Dell's technical suppor' 

warranty service, contending that Dell has engaged in deceptive and false advertising wi' 

to the availability of technical support, that it has deprived customers of timely repaif 

provide "next day" service, and that it has failed to disclose that customers 7' 
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